
 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
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          Petitioner, 
 
v. 
 
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT 
OF TRANSPORTATION; FEDERAL 
MOTOR CARRIER SAFETY 
ADMINISTRATION (FMCSA),  
 
          Respondents. 
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(FMCS No. 0258) 

 

_________________________________ 

ORDER AND JUDGMENT* 
_________________________________ 

Before BACHARACH ,  Circuit Judge, LUCERO ,  Senior Circuit Judge, and 
PHILLIPS ,  Circuit Judge. 

_________________________________ 

This case involves administrative regulation of the trucking industry. 

Under these regulations, safety violations by two companies can be 

 
* The parties have waived oral argument, and it would not materially 
help us to decide the petition for review. See  Fed. R. App. P. 34(a)(2)(C); 
10th Cir. R. 34.1(G). So we have decided the petition for judicial review 
based on the record and the parties’ briefs. 

 
Our order and judgment does not constitute binding precedent except 

under the doctrines of law of the case, res judicata, and collateral estoppel. 
But the order and judgment may be cited for its persuasive value if 
otherwise appropriate. See Fed. R. App. P. 32.1(a); 10th Cir. R. 32.1(A).  
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combined when one of the companies changes its name or structure to skirt 

the consequences of prior violations. 49 C.F.R. § 386.73(b). 

Invoking this authority, federal regulators suspended a trucking 

company, Eagle Iron & Metal. When Eagle was suspended, another entity 

(KP Trucking, LLC) expanded its operations. Regulators viewed KP’s 

expansion as an effort to continue Eagle’s operations in order to bypass 

penalties and start anew on a fresh slate. KP disagrees and petitions for 

judicial review.1 We deny the petition. 

1. KP emerges when Eagle is suspended. 

Trucking companies can operate only when granted operating 

authority by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration. See 

49 C.F.R. pt. 385. This authority had been granted to Eagle. But the Safety 

Administration cited Eagle for safety violations, imposed a penalty, and 

suspended Eagle’s registration. Upon Eagle’s suspension, KP quickly filled 

the void by taking the steps necessary to obtain reinstatement of its 

operating authority.  

KP soon drew its own citations for safety violations. The Safety 

Administration directed both KP and Eagle to suspend operations and 

ordered consolidation of the two companies’ records, finding that KP had 

 
1  Regulators also found that another entity, Kenney Balthrop d/b/a 
KP’s Trucking, was used to avoid the suspension and penalties imposed on 
Eagle. But this finding is not at issue here. 
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continued Eagle’s operations under a new identity in order to avoid Eagle’s 

civil penalty, suspension, and poor compliance history. KP challenges this 

finding. 

2. The Safety Administration had substantial evidence to find that 
KP was merely continuing Eagle’s business for an improper 
purpose.  
 
Under the petition for review, we must consider whether KP was 

merely continuing Eagle’s operations for an improper purpose. To consider 

this issue, we regard the Safety Administration’s finding as presumptively 

valid and will grant KP’s petition only if the finding is “arbitrary, 

capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law 

or unsupported by substantial evidence.” Andalex Res., Inc. v. Mine Safety 

& Health Admin.,  792 F.3d 1252, 1257 (10th Cir.  2015). To overcome this 

presumption of validity, KP bears the burden of proof. Midwest Crane & 

Rigging, Inc. v. Fed. Motor Carrier Safety Admin. ,  603 F.3d 837, 840 

(10th Cir. 2010).  

The Safety Administration concluded that KP had acted only to 

continue Eagle’s operations and had expanded for an improper purpose. KP 

challenges the evidentiary basis for these findings. 

A. Substantial evidence existed for the finding of continuity of 
Eagle’s operations.  
 

To determine whether KP served merely to continue Eagle’s 

operations, the Safety Administration could consider  
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 the businesses’ management structures,  

 their asset purchases or transfers and the related title history, 

 employee records, and 

 any other information related to the businesses’ general 
operations. 
 

49 C.F.R. § 386.73(d). The Safety Administration based its determination 

in part on the existence of common ownership, finding that one person 

(Kenney Balthrop) owned KP and had an ownership interest in Eagle. KP 

does not dispute that Mr. Balthrop is its owner, but does challenge the 

finding that he had an ownership interest in Eagle. For this finding, the 

Safety Administration could reasonably rely on two pieces of evidence.  

First, Eagle had submitted a form in 2010, stating that Mr. Balthrop 

was an owner.  
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Record at 113. 

 Second, Eagle stated in 2018 that Mr. Balthrop was an owner of 

Eagle: 
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Id. at 144. 
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In finding that KP was used to continue Eagle’s operations, the 

Safety Administration relied not only on common ownership but also on 

findings as to the two companies’ 

 use of the same drivers, vehicles, shippers, telephone numbers, 
mailing addresses, and email addresses,  
 

 common management, and 
 

 proximity to each another.  
 

KP does not dispute these findings of commonality. 

In addition to proximity and commonality in operations, the Safety 

Administration relied on KP’s acquisition of Eagle’s assets without any 

payment. KP insists that it did pay for Eagle’s assets, pointing to a 

contract to buy trucks from Eagle. But in the administrative proceeding, 

KP never mentioned or presented this contract.  

KP seeks to supplement the administrative record with this contract. 

We deny this request. When we review an agency’s decision, we must 

focus on the administrative record that already exists, not a newly created 

record. Camp v. Pitts ,  411 U.S. 138, 142 (1973) (per curiam).  

In seeking to expand the administrative record, KP relies on Federal 

Rule of Appellate Procedure 16(b). This rule allows the parties to stipulate 

to the addition of a document inadvertently omitted from the agency’s 

record. But KP does not suggest that the contract was supposed to be in the 

administrative record and inadvertently omitted; KP instead asks us to 
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consider the document even though it was never part of the administrative 

record. Even if Rule 16(b) were applicable in this situation, KP has not 

justified expansion of the record with the contract. See Am. Mining Cong. 

v. Thomas ,  772 F.2d 617, 626–27 (10th Cir. 1985) (identifying exceptions 

to the rule against the use of extra-record materials). 

If we were to consider the contract, we would be evaluating the 

factual findings based on evidence that the Safety Administration had no 

opportunity to consider. We thus deny the motion to supplement the record. 

See N.M. Env’t Improvement Div. v. Thomas ,  789 F.2d 825, 835–36 (10th 

Cir. 1986) (declining to review information that the petitioner had not 

presented during the administrative process). 

Even if we were to consider the contract, the Safety Administration 

could reasonably have found that KP had not paid for the trucks. According 

to the contract, KP bought two trucks from Eagle on May 23, 2018. The 

vehicle identification number of one of these trucks was 

1FUPCXYB81LG61890. During a compliance review roughly four months 

later, however, Eagle provided maintenance records for that same truck, 

suggesting that it was still in Eagle’s fleet. Given these records, the Safety 

Administration could reasonably infer that Eagle had never parted with 

either truck identified in the contract. 



9 
 

B. Substantial evidence existed for the finding of an improper 
purpose. 
 

 The Safety Administration found not only a continuity in operations 

but also an improper purpose, relying primarily on the timing of Eagle’s 

suspension and KP’s reinstatement.  

 In November 2018, the Safety Administration stated that Eagle had 

an “unsatisfactory” safety record based on numerous violations. Those 

violations led to civil penalties and an order for Eagle to halt operations. 

Eagle admitted to some of the violations and entered a settlement 

agreement, which allowed continuation of operations only if Eagle made 

installment payments on the civil penalties. After one installment, Eagle 

stopped paying. As a result, its operations were suspended in May 2019.  

 Meanwhile, KP twice had its own operating authority suspended for 

failing to carry liability insurance. The first suspension order came in 

September 2018, and KP did not make efforts to get reinstated until 

January 2019—four days before Eagle made its only installment payment. 

The second insurance-related suspension came in August 2019, after 

Eagle’s operations had been suspended for non-payment of its penalties. 

This time, however, KP quickly obtained the required insurance and 

restoration of its operating authority.  
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 Given Eagle’s inaction when suspended and assessed civil penalties, 

the Safety Administration could reasonably regard KP’s quick corrective 

action as a ploy for Eagle to  

 continue operations through a newly reinstated KP and  
 
 avoid payment of the previously assessed civil penalties.  

 
 KP questions the Safety Administration’s inferences from the timing. 

KP points out that it too was hit with civil penalties, insisting that if 

Mr. Balthrop’s goal was to avoid payment, he would have created a third 

business entity to start again on a fresh slate. 

 KP did not raise this argument when petitioning for review by the 

Safety Administration. And KP’s payment of its own penalties does not 

undermine the Safety Administration’s conclusion that KP was operating as 

a reincarnation of Eagle. A factfinder might have accepted an innocent 

explanation for the timing. But a factfinder could also have reasonably 

inferred that Mr. Balthrop had decided to resume operations through the 

newly reinstated KP to skirt Eagle’s civil penalties, but declined to form a 

third entity when KP was assessed its own civil penalties. 
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* * * 

We conclude that the Safety Administration reasonably found that KP 

was continuing Eagle’s operations for an improper purpose, so we deny the 

petition for judicial review. We also deny KP’s motion to supplement the 

record with the contract to buy Eagle’s trucks. 

Entered for the Court 
 
 
 
Robert E. Bacharach 
Circuit Judge 


